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The Company's 75th Annual General Meeting will be held
on Friday, 5th October, 2012
at The Grand Hotel, Malalude, Co. Dubhn

at 10.30a.m.




Results in Brief

Expressed i €000
{except per share data)

£000 Sterling Equivalent
lexcept per share data)

2012 2011 2012 2011
Revenue 70,375 66,624 60,051 56,850
Profit before taxation 12,052 11,510 10,284 9,821
Profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the parent 8,868 8,250 7,567 7,040
Earmings per share 39 94c 34 1lc 34 08p 2911p
Dwidends paid per share 8 00c 8 00¢ 6 84p 6 83p
Assets per share 805¢c 686¢ 656p 6llp
Gearing Nil Nil NIl Nil

For the purpose of the above the followng translation rates have been used for the Income Statement

2011 €100c STG 85 33p
2011 €£100c CZK 2,480 35h

2012 €100c STG 85 58p
2012 €100c CZK 2,482 41n

The rates used for conversion of Balance Sheet items are the rates at 30 Apnl 2011 and 30 Apnl 2012

2011 €100c STG 89 O4p
2011 €100c CZK 2,411 60h

2012 €100c STG 81 50p
2012 €100c CZK 2,493 80h
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Chairman’s Statement

The year ended 30th April 2012 saw
more hard won progress as the Group
re-stocks for the years ahead.

The Group reports a profit of €12.1
milion before taxation against a profit of
€11.5 mifion in the previous year. The
result includes an impairment charge of
€1.3 milion against property land and work
In progress ansing from the continuing
difficult Insh market Shareholders' funds
of €173.9 millon represent €8.05 per
share and include cash balances (including
restricted cash) of €20.2 million. Earnings
for the year were 39.94 cents and the
Board 1s recommending a dwidend of
5 cents per share for approval at the
Annual General Meeting n October.

HOUSEBUILDING

Our housebulding operations completed 310 sales
{UK 255, Ireland 37, CZK 18)with a turnover of €57 8 milhon
generating an operating profit of €8 3 million

United Kingdom Tracing in the UK continued
to be tough with some discounts needed to
maintain reasonable volumes Margins, as in the
previous year were supported by the keen prices
achieved for bulding work The current vear has
commenced n a similar vein Prices across our
operating area continue to be under pressure The
continung recession with 1ts 1impact on incomes
and employment 15 a negative backdrop to the
market At the year end the Company owned
and controlled land with the benefit of planning
permission for 999 plots Terms have been agreed
for further land acquistions
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Ireland: !n Ireland significant progress has been
made m clearng nventory Land and work in
progress now represents less than €54 million
Our project n Kilcaole has sold steadly and will
probably be concluded this year In Laois the
lack of mortgages has meant we have chosen to
rent a signficant number of propertes pending
thewr sale The Company is constantly seeking
fresh development opportunities, however viable
projects remam thin on the ground

Czech Republic In Prague we completed 18
sales and continue to struggle Rising legal and
planning costs have pushed us into loss As i
Ireland we are resorting to renting some properties
pending therr sale No additons were made to our
Czech land bank during the year

Overall the dvision 1S gradually making progress in spite
of the difficult environment The bulk of the division’s slow
moving stock 1s now held m Prague Turnover is budgeted
to increase this year as our planned recovery in the UK
gains trachon

At the year end the Group owned and controlled land
with the benefit of planring permission for the supply of
1,852 plots

PLANT HIRE

M&J reported operating profits of €302,000 on a turnover
of €12 O mifion Overall this 15 a similar result to last year
In recent weeks trading on a year on year basis has seen
a far improvement and we are budgeting for a stronger
contribution to the Group this year

RENTAL INCOME
Rental mcome duning the year was €549,000




Chairman’'s Statement

Continued

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
At the year end financial nvestments of €50 O million were
held in UK government bonds

SHARE BUYBACK

Further to the authorty granted at the Extraordinary
General Meeting on 17t November 2010 the company
has purchased for canceltation 1,386,914 ordinary shares
at a total cost of £7,313,000 Since the year end a further
65,000 shares were purchased for cancellation at a cost
of €394,877 The authonty granted in November 2010 to
purchase back shares expired on 315t May 2012

DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT AND STAFF

Mr Michael McNulty was coopted to the Board on
7th December 2011 and will go forward for election at the
Annual General Meeting

The progress of the Group 15 a result of the combined
effort of all the employees |, on behalf of the shareholders,
thank my colleagues on the Board together with all the
directors, management and staff for ther hard work and
efforts dunng the year
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THE FUTURE

The outlook for the year ahead s for signficant growth
in turnover as the UK business responds to increased
investment Increased tumover however, 15 unlikely to
be matched by a similar increase i profits as margins
are traded to secure some sales growth Competibon
for profitable tand opportunities i1s intense The external
environment remains very uncertain and further setbacks
cannot be discounted, however, all things being equal the
Group's plans are on track

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
| look forward to seeng you all at our Annual General

Meetng on 5% Qctober 2012

On behalf of the Board

Ot

Charles H Gallagher, Executive Charrman




Five Year Financial Summary

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
€000 €000 E'000 €000 €000
Revenue 70,375 66,624 97,165 99,852 180,334
Operating profit / {loss) 9,114 9,364 12,832 {55,740 15,076
Net interest recevable 3,046 2,312 2,406 1,465 1,818
Other finance charges {108} {166) (76) (119} {100}
Profit / {loss} before taxation 12,052 11,510 15,162 {54,394} 16,794
Income tax (expense) / credit (3,184) {3,260 (2,867} 3,769 4,713)
Profit / {loss) attributable to equity
shareholders of the parent 8,868 8.250 12,295 (50,625) 12,081
Earnings / {losses) per share
basic and diluted 39 94¢ 34 11c 49 92¢ (205 57c 42 93c
Dividends paid per share 8 00c 8 00c - - 36 00¢
Shareholders' funds 173,911 157,690 160,420 150,737 207,940
Earnings / (Losses} Per Share Dividends Paid Per Share
{Eura Cents} {Euro Cents)
Basic and Diluted
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Group Information

ABBEY PLC
Reg No 9245 Repubhc of ireland

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants
and Registered Auditors

SECRETARY & REGISTERED OFFICE
David J Dawson CA, 25/28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1

BANKERS
Alhed Insh Banks plc
Barclays Bank plc

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited
PO Box 954, Heron House, Corng Road,
Sandyford Industnal Estate, Dublin 18

SOLICITORS
A&l Goodbody

STOCKBROKERS
Davy Stockbroker
Arden Partners

NOMINATED ADVISOR
J&E Davy, trading as Davy

TRADING PLATFORMS
Enterprise Secunities Market
Alternative Investment Market
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Board of Directors

CHARLES H GALLAGHER (52) M.A , MSc

A Drrector of Abbey plc since 1986, Mr Charles Gallagher
was apponted Executve Charman n May 1993 He 15 a
past president of the HBF (UK House Bulders Federation)
Mr Gallagher 15 also a director of a number of other compares
including Gallagher Holdings Limited, Matthew Homes Limited
and Charles Witson Engineers Limited

BRIAN R HAWKINS {67} (BRITISH) BSc (Eng)

Mr Hawkins joined the Abbey Group in 1990 He was previously
Managing Director of Abbey Developments Limied from May
1993 to December 2006 and Managng Dwector of Abbey
Group Limited from January 2007 to September 2009 Since
October 2009 he fulfils a part-tme executive role for Abbey plc
He was co-opted to the Abbey pic Board in June 1997 He holds
no other directorships other than those within Abbey plc and its
subsidiaries

ROBERT N KENNEDY {59) (BRITISH) BSc (Econ)

Mr Kennedy joined the Abbey Group in 1996 and 1s Managing
Director of M&J} Engineers Limited He was co-opted to the Abbey
plc Board in December 1997 He holds no other directorships
other than those within Abbey ple and 1ts subsidianes

LORENZO G. FRAQUELLI (54} (BRITISH)

BSc {Cwil Eng) MICE

Mr Fraguell jomed the Abbey Group in Januvary 2007 and I1s
Managing Director of Abbey Developments Limted He was
coopted to the Abbey plc Board i November 2009 He holds
no other directorships other than those wthin Abbey plc and its
subsidianes
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DAVID A. GALLAGHER » A (51} BA , MSc
{NON-EXECUTIVE)

Mr Gallagher was appointed to the Abbey plc Board n May
1993 Mr Gallagher is a director of a number of other companies
including Gallagher Holdings bLimited, Matthew Homes Limited
and Charles Wilson Engineers Limited

J. ROGER HUMBER « A (69} [BRITISH)

BSc (Econ), Hon D Tech

{NON-EXECUTIVE)

Mr Humber was appomted to the Abbey plc Board in December
1999 He was previously Chief Executive of the HB F (UK House
Bulders Federaton) from 1979 to 1999 Mr Humber 15 a director
of a number of other companies including PE Jones (Contractors)
Limited and 1ts subsidianes, and was Chair of Circle Anglhia Housing
Group, a registered social landlord, untl December 2009

MICHAEL A. MCNULTY = A (66)

FCA, F INST D, AITI

{NON-EXECUTIVE}

Mr McNufty was appointed a nonrexecutive director of the Group
in December 2011 He is a former Semior Audit Partner of Ernst
& Young in Ireland, together with being the previous head of their
Corporate Finance Dsion He is currentty a norrexecutive director
of StayinFront Limited, Unwersity College Dubbn Foundaton
Limited and Insh Payments Sennces Organisation Limited Among
the other companies he previousty served as a nonexecutive
drector are An Post Limited, Temple Bar Properties Limited and
he 1s a former Chairman of The Pensions Board of Ireland

[*} Member of Audi Commitiee
{4) Member of Remunerabon Comumittee




Directors’ Report

The directors submit herewrth therr report and audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 Apnl 2012 which are set out
onpages 17to 42

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF

THE DEVELOPMENTS OF THE BUSINESS

The Group's principal actwvbes are bulding and property
development, plant hire and property rentat

In the year under review the proftt after taxabon amounted to
€8,868,000 (2011 €8,250,000) Dmdends of 800 cents
per share, absorbng €1,753,000 of profit have been pad
dunng the year, leaving retaned profit of €7,115,000 which
has been transferred to reserves After the share repurchase
of €7,313,000 and other movements as detaled in the *Group
Statement of Comprehensive Income" and "Group Statement of
Changes n Equity” the net assets of the Group increased from
€157,690,000 to £173,911,000

The drectors are recommending a dwdend of 500 cents
per share to be considered for approval at the Annual Generat
Meeting m October 2012

A list of pnncipal undertakings and the nature of their business 1s
contained i note C4 to the Company balance sheet Geographic
and dmsional analysis of revenue are given in note 7 to the
financial statements

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Measurement of the Group's performance 1s consistently applied
and controd 1s exercised by Group and dwisional management
The Group uses the following key performance mndicators to
evaluate s performance
1 Financial Performance Compared to Budget
The Group has a budgebng system in place whereby actual
performance 1s measured aganst budget, both financial
and norinancial, on a monthly reporiing timetable
2 Unif Reservahions
The Group reviews the weekly net house sales
reservations and weekend site wisitor numbers
3 Development Site Profit Margin
The Group evaluates the gross profit margin of each
development site on a monthly basis
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Year Ended 30 April 2012

4  Machmne Count
The Group reviews the machine count for each plant hure
depot on a weekly basis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our housebuldng operatons completed 310 sales {UK 255,
retand 37, CZK 18) wath revenue of €57 8 millon generating
an operating profit of €8 26 milion The comparatve figures for
the previous year were 303 sales (UK 224, lreland 58, CZK 21)
with revenue of €54 4 millon generating an operatng profit of
€9 3 milion

The result has been mpacted by an wnparment charge of
€1,248,000 {2011 €815,000) agamst inventonies ansing from
the confinued difficult Insh market

Trading in the UK continued to be tough over the year with some
discounts needed to mantain reasonable volumes In Prague
we conbtnue to struggle and nsing legal and planming costs
have pushed us into loss In Ireland we have made significant
progress in cleaning Inventory with land and work i progress
now representing less than €5 4 mifion

At the year end the Group owned and controlled land with the
benefit of planning permission for the supply of 1,852 plots

Our plant hire dwision reported operating proft of €302,000
{2011 profit €284,000) on revenue of €120 mihon
{2011 €11 8 million) In the previous year a gan of €410,000
from further proceeds from the disposal of an M&J property
was recogmsed Overall thiss a similar result to last year

Rental ncome duning the year was €549,000{2011 €449,000)

During the financial year our propertes recogmised a valuabon
gain of €114,000 (2011 vatuation loss €1,084,000)

At the year end total equity stood at €173 Smilion {2011 €157 7
milhon), whilst net cash balances and restncted cash stood at
€20 2 milion {2011 €26 4 mition) Further financial Investments
of €50 0 mihon were held n UK government bonds (2011
€52 6 mulkon)




Directors’ Report

Continued

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Sales pnces n the housebulding dmsion continue to be under
pressure The continuing recession with ts impact on mncome
and employment I1s a negatve backdrop to the market Margins
continue to be supported as in previous years by the keen pnces
achieved for bulding works Owverall the dmsion 15 gradually
making progress in spite of the difficult environment Revenue
15 budgeted to mcrease this year as our planned recovery in the
UK gains traction

The plant hire dision In recent weeks has seen trading on a
year on year basis improve and we are budgeting for a stronger
contribution to the Group this year

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END
There have been no important events since the year end

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Insh Company law requires the Group to give a descripbon of
the prncipal nsks and uncertantes which it faces Abbey plc's
busmess, n which it 15 engaged, 1s constantly evolving and the
list below of the principa! risks and uncertanbes for the Group
are constantly changing
& The Group 1s engaged in speculative development, which
15 by its nature highly nsky Occasional substantal losses
are a cychcal feature of its business
8 The Group operates in a very compehtive market and
therefore 1t 15 essental that the Group continues to
compete successfully
Any reduction in economic growth n the countres n
which the Group operates may adversely affect the

Group's revenue and margins

@ The Group's performance will be affected by fuel and
raw matenal prices and the cychcal changes of the
producers of these raw matenats

@ The Group 1s subject to substanbal laws, regulabions and
standards such as emaronmental, heatth and safety and
bulding regulations, which could result in addrional costs
related to compliance with these laws and regulations

01 At present the Group operates in three currencies and
adverse changes n foreign exchange rates relatve to
the euro could adversely affect the Group's financial
performance
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@ Any adverse economic nterest rate changes will impact
on the Group

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Having recenved the requred notifications, the following held
more than 3% of the i1ssued ordinary shares as at 9 July 2012

Number % of 1ssued
of shares  share capdal

10,166,544 47 23%
3,400,000 1579%
934,965 4 3%
936,000 4 32%

Gallagher Holdings Limited

FMRLLC

I1G Investment Management Ltd

Polar Caprtal European Forager Fund Ltd

DIRECTORS
Mr J Roger Humber retires i accordance with Article 98 of the
Company's Articles of Associabon and will be offenng himseif
for re-clechon

Mr Michael A McNulty was appomted to the Board on
7 December 2011 and retrres in accordance with Article 87 and,
bemg eligible offers mmself for election

DIRECTORS' AND SECRETARY'S INTERESTS

The nterests of the directors and secretary and ther famiies
in the share captal of the Company and the Group as at
30 Apnil 2012 were as follows

Mumber of Number of

Shares 2012 Shares 2011

Chartes H Gallagher 25,500 25,500
Dawd A Gallagher 3,000 3,000

None of the drectors hold shares in a nonbeneficial capacity
and no changes occurred in the above holdings between 30
April 2012 and 9 July 2012 There have not been any contracts
or arrangements with the Company or any subsidiary dunng
the year to wiuich a director of the Company had a matenal
interest and which have been significant in relation to the Group's
business




Directors’ Report

Continued

BOOKS AND RECORDS

The directors are responsible for ensunng that proper books and
accounting records, as outined in Section 202 of the Companies
Act 1990, are kept by the Company To achieve this, the directors
have appeinted appropnate accountng personnel in order to
ensure that those requirements have been complied with

The books and accounting records of the Company are mantained
at Abbey House, 2 Southgate Road, Potters Bar, Hertfordshire,
ENG 5DU, England Returns are made to the registered office
in accordance with Sechon 202(6) of the Companies Act 1990

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We are fully committed to operating ethically and responsibly
n refaton to employees, customers, neighbours and all other
stakeholders

Employees
The Board together with the directors, thark the management
and staff for their hard work and efforts dunng the year

The average number of employees dunng the year 1s set out in
note 11 to the financial statements

Disabled Employees

The Group gves every consideration to apphcabions for employment
from disabled persons where the requirements of the job may be
adeguately fulfiled by a handicapped or disabled person

Where existing employees become disabled, # 15 the Group's
policy wherever practicable to prowde conbinuing employment
under normal terms and conditions and to prowide traming and
career development and promohon wherever appropnate

Employee Involvement

The continuing Group policy with regard to employee consultation
and involvement 1s that there should be effective commumication
with all employees who, subject to practcal and commercial
considerabons, should be consutted on and wmvolved
decisions that affect thewr current jobs and future prospects The
achievement of this policy has to be treated flexibly in accordance
with the varying circumstances and needs of companies in the
Group but, in all cases, the emphasis 1s on communication at the
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focal level Details of the Group's financial results are crculated
each half year and full year and penodic staff meetings are also
held to discuss varous aspects of the Groups business

Health and Safety

The Group pays parbcular adherence to health and safely matters
The Group has implemented appropnate salfety guidelines in its
Insh subsidiantes as required by the Safety, Health and Welfare
at Work Act, 2005

Emaronment

The Group pays particular adherence to apphcable environmental
legislation and requests that our employees and subcontractors
are aware of ther responsibiibes in this regard The Group
supports vanous chares and local events

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Your attention 15 drawn to the notice of meeting which sets out
matters of ordinary and special business to be considered at the
Annual General Meeting

CAPITAL GAINS TAX
The quoted pnce of the ordinary share on 6 April 1974 as
calculated for capital gans tax in Ireland was €78 7¢ (IR62p)

AUDITORS

The audtors, Emst & Young, Chartered Accountants, wil
contmue 10 office In accordance with Sechon 160(2) of the
Companies Act, 1963

On behalf of the Board, 9 July 2012
CH GALLAGHER Charman

L G FRAQUELL!  Dwector




Remuneration Report

The remuneration of the executve directors 1s determmned
by the Remuneration Committee which comprises all of
the nonexecutve directors The written terms of reference
have been approved by the Board and are amed to ensure
that remuneration packages are compebitve and that they
will aftract, retan and motvate executive directors of the
qualty required The nonrexecutive directors’ remuneration 1S
deterrmined by the Board

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Group does not operate any share option or long-term
mncentve schemes

The Executve Chairman's serice contract contams a notice
period of two years which was recommended by the Commuttee
in view of the importance of this role Mr Kennedy and Mr
Fraquelh have a notce penod of one year Mr Hawkins' contract
comes to and end on 31 July 2012

The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the year 1s as follows

Salary end 2} Benefits 2012 2011
Executive Directors 5 "&% Jdﬁ eT@%'
C H Gallagher 662 23 685 684
B R Hawkins 53 - 53 53
R N Kennedy 182 69 251 245
L G Fraquel 230 17 247 241
Totals 1,127 109 1,236 1,223

Non-Executive Directors
D A Gallagher 47 - 47 47
J R Humber 47 - 47 47
M A McNulty @ 20 - 20 -
JF Hogan 3 27 - 27 60
Totals 141 - 141 154
(1) Benefits by Hand compnse defined benefit pension contnbuions and other benefits and emoluments
{21 Mr MA. McNulty was appoeted to the Board on 7 December 2041
(3) M JF Hogan resigned from the Board on 7 October 2011

PENSIONS

Three executve directors were members of The Abbey Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme durng the year Nonexecuive
directors do not paricipate n the Group's pension scheme The Chairmnan became a deferred member of the Group's defined benefit scherme
on 5 April 2006 and 1s paid a taxable allowance, with effect from that date in fizu of future pension benefits as set out below Mr B R Hawkins
1S & pensioner member of the defined benefit pension scheme There 15 one {2011 one) director to whom retrement benefits are accrung
under a defined benefit scheme at 30 Aprl 2012 One director had contnbutions {0 a defined contrbuton scheme dunng the year (2011 one)

Defned Beneft Defined
Increase in Contnbuton

Accrued Actumlated Retwement
e e ouse VO o E:f"‘"‘gm“ Conntgers
Name Years The Year Increase 30 Aol Aol 30 Apl
£000 €000 €000 €000 €000
C H Gallagher - - - - 131 -
R N Kennedy 15 2 135 34 - -
L G Fraquelh - - - - - 27
30 Aprd 2012 2 135 34 131 27
30 Aprl 2011 2 44 29 131 19
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board 15 committed to mamntamng high standards of
Corporate Governance to ensure that the Company 15 headed
by an effectve Board which can lead and control the business

THE BOARD

The Board 15 currently compnsed of the Executve Charman,
three executive directors and three nonrexecutive directors The
Board considers all nonexecutive directors capable of exercising
independent judgement They all have long expenence and share
equal obhgations to the Company

The roles of the Executve Charman and Chief Executive are
combmed in one indmdual The drectors beleve that the
Company benefits from consolidatng the experence and
knowledge of the present Executive Chairman whilst ensunng that
there are expenenced nonexecutive, and executive directors, to
whom concerns may also be conveyed

The Executve Chawrman's service contract contans a
notce penod of two years which was recommended by the
Remuneration Committee n view of the importance of this role

Executive directors are not required to submit themselves for
re-election, apart from at ther first Annual General Meeting Therr
election 1s covered by Articles 87 and 94 of the Company's
Articles of Association

The directors believe the Company benefits from allowing executive
directors to perform therr dubes whist benefiting from continuity
of performance Execuive drrectors are subject to the same
prowsions as to their removal as other directors of the Company

One third of the nonexecubive directors retire by rotatron
each year

Nonexeculve directors are not apponted for specific terms and
ther election 15 covered by Article 87 of the Company's Articles
of Association Nonexecutive directors are required to submit
themselves for re€lechon by rotation and ther reelection 1s
covered by Article 98 of the Company's Articles of Association

The directors beheve that the Company benefits from the greater
experience and knowledge of the business ganed by directors
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with long serice The present nonrexecutves do not have formal
letters of appontment

The Board meetings are held regularly and at least four
tmes each year with agendas sent out in advance of each
meeting There 1s a schedule of formal matters reserved for
Board approval All directors have access to advice from the
company secretary and independent professional adwisors at the
Company's expense

The Board has established Avdit and Remuneration Committees

The Board does not have a formal Nominatons Committee
All Board norminations are tabled under ‘Formal Matters to be
Referred to the Board' and consideration of appontments are
made by the Board as a whole

AUDIT AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEES

Both the Audtt and Remuneration Committees compnse all the
nonexecutive directors with Mr Roger Humber as the Chairman
The Audit Commttee meets not less than twice each year and
the Remuneration Committee when required

Both Committees have wnitten terms of reference

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

There are regular meetngs with the Company's principal
investors Announcements of results are sent promptly to all
shareholders All nvestors are welcome at the Annual General
Meeting where they have the opportunty to ask queshons
of the Board The Executve Chawman at the Annual General
Meeting also gives a staternent on the current trading condihons
Shareholders are both welcome and encouraged to raise any
concerns with any director at any time




Corporate Governance Report

INTERNAL CONTROL

The drrectors are responsible for ensunng that the Group
mamtains a system of internal control This system 1s designed
to prowde reasonable but not absolute assurance agamst
matenal misstatement or loss

Key elements of this control systern, including internal financial
control, are

M An organisaton structure with clearty defined fines of
responsibility and delegation of authonty

B A budgeting system with actual performance being
measured aganst budget on a regular basis

B A review of the key busmess nsks relevant to
the Group's cperabons These nsks are reviewed
annually to ensure that they remain appropriate to
the business and the current frading environment

B Control procedures to address the key business
nsks which meclude policies and procedures
approprate to each of the man operating
subsidianes The Board considers the adequacy
of the control procedures at the same bme as it
reviews the key busmess nsks Certain prescnbed
matters are reserved for Board approval

A management review of the operaton of the
system

@ At all Board and Audit Commuttee meetings Intemnal
Control 1s a main agenda item to be considered

B The Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of
the Group's Internal Control System
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Continued

The Board has revewed the effectveness of the Group's intemal
Control System up to and mcluding the date of approval of the
annual report This review includes a consideraton of 155ues
raised in management letters recened from the external auditors

The above elements help to prowde assurance, but the Board
recognises that the business it Is engaged in 15 constantty
evohang and 1t accepts that the Group's internal control must
evolve with it In this respect the Board i1s wiling to allocate
the necessary resources to mplement new controls to cover
new areas of nsk if addiional controls are deemed beneficial in
assisting the Group to achieve its objectives

The Board has considered the need for an mternal audit function
and concluded that, due to the effective levels of procedures
already in place, there 15 currently no requirement for an internal
audit functon during the year under review, although this matter
will be reviewed regularly

GOING CONCERN

The Group's business activibes, together with the factors hkely
to affect s future development, performance and posibon
are set out in the Dwrectors’ Report on pages 9 fo 11 The
posion of the Group, its cash flows and hquidity posthon are
detalled on pages 19 and 20 The Group has adequate financial
resources together with long term relabonships with a number
of custormers and suppliers and ihe directors believe that the
Group 15 well placed to manage its business nsks successfully,
despite the current uncertain economic outlock For this reason,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the
financial statemenis




Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities In Respect of the Financial Statements

Company law i Ireland requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, which give a true and far view
of the state of affars of the Company and of the Group and of
the profit or loss of the Group for that penod

In preparing those Group financial statements the directors are
required to

M select sutable accountng policies and apply them
consistently,

M make udgements and estmates that are reasonable and
prudent,

M comply with applicable Intemational Financiat Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union, subject to
any matenal departures disclosed and explamed in the
financial statements, and

B prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis, unless it 1s nappropnate to presume that the
Group will continue in business

The considerations set out above for the Group are also
required to be addressed by the Dirrectors in prepanng the
financial statements of the Parent Company (which are set out
on pages 39 to 42}n respect of which the applicable accounting
standards are those which are generally accepted in the Republic
of Irefand
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The Dwectors have elected to prepare the Parent Company's
financial statements m accordance wath generally accepted
accounting prachce in Ireland {Insh GAAP) compnsng the
financial reporting standards 1ssued by the Accounting Standards
Board and promulgated by the Instiute of Chartered Accountants
in Ireland, together with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009

The Drectors are responsible for keeping proper books of
accounts, which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time,
the financial poshon of the Parent Company and which enable
them to ensure that the financial statements of the Group are
prepared In accordance with applicable Internatonal Financial
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and
comply with the provisions of the Companies Acts, 1963 to
2009 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Group and hence for takng reasonable steps for the
prevenaon and detection of fraud and other regulanities




Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Abbey plc

We have audited the group and company financiat statements (the
“financial statements*} of Abbey plc for the year ended 30 Aprd 2012
which compnise the Group Income Statement, Group Statement of
Comgrehensive Income, the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the
Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement of Changes i Equrty
and the related notes 1 to 35 (group} and C1 to C11 {company) These
financiat statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, n
accordance with section 193 of the Companies Act, 1990 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibity to anyane other than the
company and the company's members as a body, for our audtt work, for
thus report, or for the opinions we have formed

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES

OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The directors are responsible for the preparabon of the group financial
statements i accordance with applicable Irish law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and for the preparabon of the company financiab statements
in accordance with applicable Insh law and Accountng Standards
1ssued by the Accountng Standards Board and promulgated by the
Instite of Chartered Accountants in lreland (Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in reland) as set out in the Statement of Directors
Responsibiites

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in accordance with
relevant legat and regulatory requirements and Internabonal Standards on
Auditing (UK and Irefand)

We report o you our opinion as to whether the financial statements gve
a true and fair view and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009 We also report to you our opiuon
as to whether proper books of account have been kept by the company,
whether, at the balance sheet date, there exists a financial situation which
may requrre the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the
company, and whether the information gnven in the Directors’ Report 15
consistent with the financial statements In addibon, we state whether
we have obtaned all the information and explanations necessary for
the purposes of our audt and whether the company balance sheet 15
agreement with the books of account

We also report to you f, 1 our opinion, any informaton specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions s not disclosed
and, where practcable, inchude such information in our report

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider
whether it 15 consistent with the audited financial statements The other
information compnses only the Charman's Statement, the Directors’
Report, the Remuneration Report, the Corporate Governance Report and
the Statement of Dwrectors’ Responsibiliies We consider the mplcations
for our report f we become aware of any apparent musstatements or
matenat nconsistencies with the financial statements Our responsibiities
do not extend to any other nformabon
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BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audd n accordance with International Standards on
Audiing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Audiing Prachices Board An
audrt inchudes examunation, on a test basis, of ewdence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures n the financial statements It also ncludes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the
directors i the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's and company’s
arcumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audtt so as to obtan all the information
and explanations wiich we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient ewidence to gve reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or ather wrregulanty or error In formmng our opinion we alse
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements

OPINION
In cur opmon

the group finantial statements gve a true and far wvew, n
accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of affars of the group as at 30 Apnl 2012 and of s profit for
the year then ended and have been propery prepared in accordance
with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2009, and

the company financial statements gve a frue and far view, in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland,
of the state of affars of the company as at 30 Apnl 2012 and have
heen properly prepared n accordance with the Comparnies Acts,
1963 to 2009

We have cbtamed all the wformation and explanations we consier
necessary for the purposes of our audt In our opinion proper books of
account have been kept by the company The company balance sheet 15
in agreement with the books of account.

in our optnion the information given in the Directors’ Report 15 consistent
with the financial statements

In our opimon, the company balance sheet does not disclose a financial
situation which under section 40{1) of the Companies {Amendment) Act,
1983 would requrre the convening of an extraordinary general meeting
of the company

Frank O'Keeffe

For and on behalf of Emst & Young

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Dublin

9 July 2012




Group Income Statement

Year Ended 30 Apnl 2012

Note 012 2011

€000 €000

Revenue - continuing operations 7 70,375 66,624

Cost of sales

- operating (52,539) (49,511)

- imparment charge on inventones 8 (1,248) {815)
Gross profit 16,588 16,298
Administrative expenses {7,588) {6,260)
Gain on property disposal 8 - 410
Net gain / (loss) from farr value adjustments in investment propertes 8 114 {206)
Revaluation decreases in land and buldings 8 - (878)
Operating profit - continuing operations 9,114 9 364
Finance income 9 3,046 2,312
Finance costs 9 (108) {166)
Profit before taxation 10 12,052 11,510
Income tax expense 12 (3,184) {3,260)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 28 8,868 8,250
Earnings per share - basic 14 39.94¢ 341lc
Earmings per share - diuted 14 39.94¢ 34 11c

Approved by the Board on 9 July 2012
CH GALLAGHER, Charman
L G FRAQUELL!, Director

Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended 30 April 2012

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 8,868 8,250
Foreign currency transfation 10,582 (2,125)
Unrealised gan on fair value of available-for-sale financial nvestments 5,553 1,882
Tax movement relating to unrealised gain on far value

of avalable-for-sale financiat investments (1,327) (454)
Reclassification of adjustment for disposal of avalable-for-sale investments {565) -
Tax movement relating to reclassificabon of adustment for

disposal of avalablefor-sale investments 137 -
Revaluahon reserve decrease - land and buldings - {547
Actuanal gam on Group defined benefit pension obligations 2,683 953
Deferred tax movement relating to actuanal gain on

Group defined benefit pension obligations (644) (248)
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax 16,419 {539
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax, attnbutable to

equity shareholders of the parent 25,287 7,711
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity Year Ended 30 April 2012

Capital
Issued Share  Revaksath Redempbon @ y ined
Capital Premhan Resarve Reservo Fund  Tramsiation Eamings Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Attributable to equity holders of the parent at 1 May 2011 7.353 13,321 3,718 5,030 (22,077 150,345 157,690
Profit for the year - - - - - 8868 8868

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - - 344 - 10,238 5837 16,419

Total comprehensive income, net of tax,

attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent - - 344 - 10,238 14,705 25,287
Equity dwmdends paid - - - - - (1,753  {1,753)
Purchase of own shares {444) - - 444 - (7,313 (7,313
At 30 Aprl 2012 6,909 13,321 4,062 5474 {11,839) 155,984 173,911
Group Statement of Changes in Equity Year Ended 30 Apnl 2011

Capital
Issued Share  Revaluation Redemptien Currency Retamed
Capital Premium Reserve Reserve Fund Translation Eamnings Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Attnbutable to equity holders of the parent at 1 May 2010 7,881 13,321 4,548 4502 {20044) 150,212 160,420

Profit for the year - - - - 8250 8250

Other comprehensive {loss) / income, net of tax - - {830} {2,033) 2,324 {539)

Total comprehensive {fossl / mcome, net of tax, attnbutable to

equity shareholders of the parent - - 830 - {2,033 10574 7,711
Equity dwdends pad - - - - - {1,926} (1,926)
Purchase of own shares (528) - - 528 - {8.515) (8,515
At 30 Apnl 2011 7,353 13321 3,718 5030 (22077} 150,345 157,690
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Group Balance Sheet

At 30 Apnil 2012

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investments

Defined benefit pension scheme surplus

Current assets

Trade and other recewvables
Inventones

Financial investments
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Income tax payable
Prowisions

NET CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current liabiltbes

Deferred taxation
Prowvisions

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

issued capital

Share premium

Revaluation reserve

Cther reserves
- Capital redemption reserve fund
- Currency translation

Retaned earnings

TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Approved by the Board on 9 July 2012
CH GALLAGHER, Charman
L G FRAQUELLI, Drrector
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Note

15
16
18
33

19
20
18
21
21

22
23
24

25
24

26
27
27

26
27
28

2012

2011

€000 €000
24,027 20,052
2,795 2,209

6 6

7,047 2,957
33,875 25,224
5,811 6,297
104,696 83,128
49,961 52,592
286 1,544
19,888 24,808
180,642 168,369
214,517 193,593
(35,392} (30,748)
{1,811) {1,947}
(1,194} {2,103)
{38,397) {34,798)
142,245 133,571
{2,179) {1,041)
(30) 64)
(2,209] {1,105)
{40,606) {35,903)
173,911 157,690
6,909 7,353
13,321 13,321
4,062 3,718
5474 5,030
{11,839} (22,077
155,984 150,345
173911 157,690
214,517 193,593




Group Cash Flow Statement

Year Ended 30 Apni 2012

Cash flows from operating activibes
Profit before taxahon

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows
Non cash

Depreciation and amortisation

QOther non cash items

Movement in pension benefit asset

Imparrment charge on mnventories

Net (gain) / loss from far value adjustment in investment properties

Revaluation decrease In land and bulldings

Profit on disposal of property, plant and eguipment

Realised gan on disposal of financial nvestments

Finance income
Finance costs

Working capital adjustments
Increase in inventories
Decrease in trade and other recenables
Decrease in trade and other payables

Income taxes paid
Net cash outflow from operating activihes

Cash flows from investing activihes
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Investment i financial investments
Disposal of financial investments

Disposal of investment in Joint Venture
Finance ncome

Net cash inflaw / {outflow) from nvesbng actwibes
Cash flows from financing activities

Cost of share buybacks

Equity dwidends paid

Movement in restricted cash

Finance costs

Net cash outflow from financing actmbies

Net decrease in cash and cash equwvalents

Cash and cash equwvalents at start of year
Net foreign exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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Note 2012 2011
€000 €000

12,052 11,510

10 4,542 4,502
(2,511 1,601

(951) (360)

8 1,248 815
8 (114) 206
8 - 878
10 (863) (647)
(1,117) (2)

{2,490) {2,336)

9 108 166
(12,213) (21,423)

910 3,352

(878) (11,500)

{4,301) (3,703)

(6,578) (16,941)

(8,561) (6,246)

1,594 1,334

- (4,864)

13,095 4,866

- 200

2,490 2,336

8,618 (2,374)

(7,313) {8,515)
(1,753) (1,926)

21 1,258 2,900
9 {108) {166)
(7,916) (7,707)

(5,876} (27,022)

21 24,808 51,828
956 2

21 19,888 24,808




Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 April 2012

1 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Abbey plc for the year ended 30 Apnl 2012 were avthonsed for 1ssue in accordance with a resolsbon of
drectors on @ July 2012 Abbey plc 15 a pubbcly traded entity mcorporated in the Republic of keland The company's shares are hsted on the ESM and
AIM Stock Exchanges The principal actvities of the Group are descnbed in note 7

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS™)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the rewised Standards and Interpretations ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASB)
and the IFRS interpretations Commitee of the IASB that are relevant to its eperations

The Group has adopted the followng new and amended IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations during the year Adoption of these revised standards and
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or financial postion of the Group in the current or prior periods

*IFRS 1 Firsttme Adoption of Internatienat Financial Reporting Standards (Amendment)
- Severe Hypeninflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for Firsthme Adopters

*|FRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures (Amendment)

*1AS 12 Income Taxes (Amendment} - Deferred Taxes Recovery of Underying Assets

* [AS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)

* IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation - Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment) -
«[FRIC 14  Prepayments of a Mimmum Funding Requirement (Amendment}

*[FRIC 19  Extngushing Financial Liabilibes with Equrty tnstruments Improvements to international Financial Reporting Standards (2010)

3 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements of Abbey plc and all its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been prepared n accordance with International Financial
Standards {IFRS"), as adonted for use i the European Union, as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2012

4 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Group financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and buldings and investment property and avalable-for
sale financial investments which have been measured at far value The accounting pohicies which follow set out these policies which apply in preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 30 Apnl 2012

Abbey plc {the company} has changed its functional currency to sterbng but continues to present ds financial statements in euro

The Group financtal statements are presented in Euro and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand euro {€'000) except where otherwise indicated

5 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The Group financiat statements include the financial statements of the parent undertaking and all subsidianes Inter-company balances, transactions and
profits therean have been efiminated in prepanng the Group financial statements The financial year end of the Group s subsidianes are cotermnus
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 Apnl 2012

6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue Recognrhon

Revenue 15 recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that the economic benedits wilt flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured
Revenue I1s measured at the farr value of the consideration received Revenue represents the value of goods and servces supplied to external customers
and excludes mter-group sales and value added tax The following critena must also be met before revenue 1s recognised

Housing
Revenue on housing developments and the respective profits are recogmsed when the property ts siructurally complete and legally transferred to the
purchaser

Flant hire
Revenue comprses charges to thid partes, net of value added tax, for the hrre, rental, sales and maintenance of constructon plant, vehicles, tools
and portable buldings, all mtra group transactions having been eliminated Revenue 1s recognised on a straight line basis aver the period of the hire

Property rental
Revenue 1s recogrised on a straight fne basis over the penod of the lease term, net of value added tax. All mira group transactons havng been efminated

Interest income
Revenue is recogmised as interest accrues in the period

Segmental Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal organisation and management structure and the mternal reperting nformation
provided to the Board

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Net reabisable value in respect of Inventory property 1s assessed with reference to
market prices at the reporting date, less estmated costs to complete including overheads and selfing costs

Building land and roads
Buiding land and roads I1s stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value less an appropriate proporbion refating to plots sold in the case of estates
In the course of development

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether building land and roads 1s impared in accordance with IAS 2 nventories” If any imparment
has occurred then the write down 1s recogmsed as an expense m the income statement

Work in progress
The cost of uncompleted and unsold new properties comprises direct labour and matenal costs No profits are taken until houses are conveyed on legal
completion to third partes

Raw matenals
The cost of raw matenals comprises net nvoice price on an average cost basis

Trade and other recenvables
Trade recewvables are recognised and carried at the lower of ther onginal mvoiced value and recoverable amount

Where the time value of money 1s materal, recewvables are camed at amortised cost. Provision is made when there 1s objective ewdence that the Group
will not be able to recover balances in full Balances are written off when the probability of recovery 15 assessed as being remote

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet compnise cash at banks and in hand and short term deposits with an oniginal matunty of three
months or less

For the purpose of the Group cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents constst of cash and cash equrvalents as defined above

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are stated at ther far value Trade payables on extended terms are recorded at thew farr vahie at the pernod end, with any discount to
farr value amorbsed over the period of the credit term and charged to finance costs
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 Apri 2012

6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

Taxes

Current mcome tax

Current income tax assets and liabities for the year are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxaton authorities The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted for the financial year

Deferred mcome tax
Deferred income tax ts recogmised on all temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and fiabihes and thesr carryng amounts in the
financial statements, with the following exceptions

= n respect of taxable temporary diferences associsted with investrnents in subsidianes, where the brming of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it 1s probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, and

» deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit wil be avalable against which temporary
differences, carnied forward tax credits or tax losses can be vhhised

Deferred income tax assets and liabilibes are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related asset s
reahsed or habiity settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantvely enacted at the balance sheet date

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date Deferred income tax asset and liabilities are offset, onty if a
legally enforcement nght exists to set off current tax assets agamst current tax habidies, the deferred income tax relates to the same taxation authonty
and that authonty perrmits the Group to make a single net payment

Income tax 15 charged or credited directly to equdy ff  relates to items that are creded or charged to equity Otherwise income tax 1s recognised in
the income statement.

Foreign Currency

The consohdated financial statements are presented in euro, which 1s the Company's and Group's presentational currency Abbey ple {the company} has
changed #s functional currency to sterling effectve 1 May 2011 as a result of determining that its assets and habilities are now pnmanty held in sterling
and that it was a UK tax resident company Each entity in the Group determines its own funcbonal currency and tems included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency Transachons i foreign curencies are inthally recorded at the funchonal currency rate ruling at
the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habibes denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date with all drfferences taken to other comprehensie income Differences on monetary assels and kabdies that form part
of the Group’s net nvestment in a foreign operalion are taken directly to equrty until the disposal of the net mvestment, at which tme they are recogrused
i the ncome statement Non monetary tems that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
as at the dates of the nbial transacbons Non monetary tems measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the farr value was determined The foreign currency translation reserve 15 used to record exchange differences ansing from the translation of
the financial statements to presentational currency

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equpment 15 stated at cost except for land and buldings which have been measured at farr value, less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated imparment losses Cost compnses the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration gven to acquire the asset
and includes costs directly atinbutable to making the asset capable of operating as intended

Depreciation 15 provided on al property, plant and equpment, other than land, on a straight line basis over the expected useful ife as follows

* Buldings 50 years
+ Plant, machinery and transport 3to 8 years

The carrying amount of property, plant and equpment are reviewed for smparment f events or changes in circumstances mdicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable, and are wntten down immediately to thewr recoverable amount Useful lves and residual values are reviewed annually and where
adjustments are required these are made prospectively

An rtem of property, plant and equipment 15 derecogmised upen disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to anse from the continued
use of the asset. Any gamn or loss ansing on the derecogmtion of the asset Is included in the income statement in the penod of derecognibion
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 Apnl 2012

6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

Leases

Group as a lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are inchuded in property and are depreciated over ther estmated useful Iives Rental income 15 recognised on
a straight kne basis over the lease term

Group as a lessee
Leases where the fessor retains a significant portion of the nsks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases and rentals
payable are charged to the mcome statement on a straight ine basis over the lease term

Impairment of non financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 1s an indication that an asset may be impared H any such mndicatien exsts, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset 15 required, the Group makes an estmate of the asset's recoverable amount An asset's recoverable amount (s the higher
of an asset's far value less costs to sell and its value in use and 15 determined for an ndmadual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely ndependent of those from other assets or group of assets Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset 1s considered impatred and 1s written down to s recoverable amount In assessing value in use, the estmated future cash flows are discounted
to thewr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the tme value of money and the nisks specric to the
asset. In determiming far value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model 1s used Impairment losses on continung operabons are recogmsed in
the income statement in those expense categornes consistent with the function of the impared asset

An assessment 1s made at each reporting date as to whether there 15 any indication that previousty recognised smparment losses may no longer exist
or have decreased If such indication exssts, the recoverable amount 1s estmated A previously recognised impairment loss 1s only reversed if there has
been a change i the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last imparment loss was recognised If that 1s the case
the carrying amount of the asset 1s increased to its recoverable amount That mcreased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation, had ne mparrment loss been recogrised for the asset n pnor years Such reversal 1s recognised in the income
statement unless the asset 1s carned at the revalued amount m which case the reversal 15 treated as a revaluation decrease After such a reversal the
depreciation charge 1s adusted in future peniods to allocate the asset's rewised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its
remainng useful ife

investment properties
Certain of the Group's surplus properbes are classtied as investment properties, beng held for long term investment and to eam rental ncome

Investrment properties are measured irhally at cost, mcluding transaction costs Subsequent to inbal recogndion, investment properties are stated at
farr value, which reflects market condrions at the balance sheet date Gains or losses ansing from the changes in farr value of investment properties are
included in the income statement in the pened in wiich they anse

Investment properties are derecognised when they have been dispased of or when the investment property I1s permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefit I1s expected from its disposal

Any gains or losses on the retrement or disposal of an mvestment property are recognised in the income staterment in the year of retirement or disposal

Financial assets

Recogmtion and derecognition of financial assets and habiibes

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes party to the contractual prowisions of the instrument The derecognition of financial assets
takes place when the Group no longer has the nght to cash flows, the nsks and rewards of ownership, or control of the asset

Available-for-sale financial nvestments

Avatlable-for sale financial mvestments are those nendervatve financial assets that are not designated as held for trading or at far value through the profit
and loss After inrbial recogniion, avalablefor sale financial ivestments are measured at far value with gains or losses being recognised within other
comprehensive income untl the investment is erther determined to be impawed or derecogmsed, at which tme the cumulatve gan or loss previously
reported in equity Is included in the mcome statement

Debt securittes in this category are mtended to be held for an mdefinde period of tme and may be sold in response to needs for kquidity or response
to changes in the market condrions

The Group's only avallable-for sale-financial investments are UK Government Sterling bonds as detailed n note 18

The far value of financial asset investments 15 determined by reference to the quoted price, which excludes accrued mterest, at the close of business
on the balance sheet date

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 1s imparred
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

Pensions and other post retrement benefits
The Group aperates a defined benefit pension scheme, which requres contributions to be made to a separately admurustered fund The UK scheme was
closed to new entrants on 1 January 2001 from which time membership of a defined contnbubon plan 1s avadable

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan 15 determined vsing the projected unt method, which attnbutes entriement to benefits to
the current penod (to determune current seraice cost) and to the current and pnor penods (to determine present value of the defined benefit obligation}
and 15 based on actuanal adwice Past service costs are recognised in the income statement

The mterest element of the defined benefit cost represents the change in present value of scheme obhgations resulting from the passage of time The
expected return on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the begining of the year of longterm market returns on scheme assets,
adusted for the effect of farr value of the plan assets of contributions receved and benefits pard durng the year The difference between the expected
return on scheme assets and the nterest cost 1s recognised in the Income statement as other finance income or cost

The Group has applied 1AS 19 to recognise actuanal gains and losses i full in the statement of comprehensive income

The defined benefit asset compnises the present value of the defined benefit obhgation fusing a discount rate based on high qualily corporate bands},
less unrecagnised past serwce costs and less the far value of the plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled Plan assets are assets that
are held by a long-term employee benefit fund Plan assets are not avatlable to the credrtors of the Group, nor can they be paid diectly to the Group Far
vahe I1s based on market price mformatien The value of any defined benefit asset recogmised is resiricted to the sum of any unrecogmsed past serice
costs and the present value of any economic benefits avalable in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contribuhons to the plan

Contributions to defined contnbution and personal employee plans are recogmsed i the income statement in the pertod in which they become payable

Provisions

Prowisions are recognised when the Group has a present obhgation {legal or constructve) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be requrred to settle the obligation and a relable estmate can be made of the obhigabon Prowsions are
measured at the expected expendrture required to settle the obhgation and are discounted to present value where the effect 15 material

Where the Group expects some or all of the provisions to be reimbursed, the reimbursement I1s recognised as a separate asset but only when recovery
15 wirtually certain The expense relating to any provision 1s presented n the income staterment net of any rembursement

Accounting Judgements and Estmates
The preparation of financial statements requwes management to make judgements, esbmates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for
assets and liabilites as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year

In the process of apphying the Group's accountng pohicies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those invoing esbmations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements

Inventory valuabon
The Group measures nventones at the lower of cost and net reaisable value Iventones mclude development land and roads, work n progress and completed
units for sale along with raw matenals

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 1s an ndicabon that imventones may be impared f any such ndicabon exsts, or when annual imparment
testng for aventones are required, the Group makes an estmate of the mventones recoverable amount. Where the cammg amount of mventory exceeds s
recoverable amount, the wwentory 15 considered smpared and 15 written down fo fts recoverable amount. In determining net realisable value, an appropnate
assessment s made based on external valuatons and the expected overal return on development sites

An assessment s made at each reporting date as to whether there 15 any mdication that previously recognised mparrment losses may no longer exst or have
decreased i such indicaton essts, the prewously recognised mmparment oss s reversed

In determining the value of work n progress the Group applies a standard costing process for cost of sales The Group estmates the development cost for sdes
and the length of tme for the construcon process with vanances recognised n the ncome statement.

Employee benefits

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined using actvanial valuations The actuanal valuation mvolves making assumptions about discount
rates, future salary ncreases, expected rates of return on scheme assets, mortalty rates and future pension increases Due to the long term nature of
this plan, such estmates are subject to signficant uncertainty
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

New Standards and interpretations Not Applied

IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Committee have 1ssued the followng standards and wterpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial
statements

International Accounting Standards {IAS / [FRSs) Effective Date*
AS 1 Presentation of Other ltems in other Comprehensive Income  Amendment 1y 2012
IFRS9  Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement 1 January 2015
IFRS 10 Consobdated Financial Statements 1 January 2013
IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013
IFRS 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Enbibes 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 Far Yalue Measurements 1 January 2013
14519  Employee Benefits (revised) 1 Janvary 2013

The Directors do not anticipate that the adopton of the remammg standards and nterpretatons will have a matenal impact on the Group's financial
statements in the perod of inmal apphcation

* The effective dates stated here are those given m the ongmal IASB/FRIC standards and interpretations As the Group has elected to prepare
thewr financial statements i accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, the apphication of new standards and interpretations wilf
be subject to them havng been endorsed by the EU via the EU endorsemnent mechanism I the majonty of cases this will result i an effectve
date consistent with that given in the ongial standard or interpretation but the need for endorsement restricts the Group's discretion to early
adopt standards 1t 15 expected that for a number of the standards above, EU adeption wil not be m hne with [ASB adoption

7 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Tumover, cost of sales and operating profit / (loss) are derved from continuing activines The Group operates i three markets being Ireland, the United
Kingdom and the Czech Republic The principal actvibes of the Group are bulding and property development, plant tire and property rental These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its pnimary segment information

— Buiding and Property Development — PantHre FropertyRenid  UnaSocated GROUP
iretand and
Jeland Untted Kingdom  Czech Repubbc  Ureted Kingdom  Unted Kingdom
30 Apnl 2012 €000 €000 €000 €000 £000 €000 €000
Income Statement Information
Revenue 5,639 47,791 4,388 12,008 549 - 70,375
Cost of Sales
- operating 4,081} (35143) (3437  (9,878) - - {52,539)
- mparment charge on nventories (1,248} - - - - - (1,248}
Administrative expenses (606} {4,009) {1,145) {1,828} - - (7,588}
Net gan from far value adustments 114 - - - - - 114
Operating {loss) / profit {182) 8,639 {194) 302 549 - 9114
Finance income net 437 2,509 7 (15} - - 2,938
Income tax expense (118) (2,846} (33} {187 - - (3,184)
Profit / (loss} after taxabon 137 8,302 {220) 100 549 - B,868
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7 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED}
— Buldng and Property Development — Pt Hire PropertyRentd  Unalocated GROUP
redand and
Weand  Unted Kingdort Crech Republe  Uisted Kingdom Urted Kingdom
30 Apnl 2012 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 £000 €000
Balance Sheet Information
Segment Assets 6,768 94,345 16,201 25,562 1,500 - 144,376
Segment kabilbes 4,906} (31,517 {294} {3,889) - {40,606)
Segment Net Assets 1,862 62,828 15,907 21,673 1,500 - 103,770
Investments - 6 - - - - 6
Financiat investments 12,170 37,791 - - - - 49,961
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 12,371 5419 1,767 153 - 464 20,174
TOTAL NET ASSETS 26,403 106044 17674 21,826 1,500 464 173,911
Cther Segmental Information
Depreciation 33 153 - 4,275 ~ - 4461
Profit on disposal of fixed assets {15 2) - (846) - - (863}
Capital expenditure 129 161 28 7,354 - - 71672
Noncurrent assets 399 9,695 449 21,932 1,500 - 33,875
30 Apnl 2011
Income Statement Information
Revenue 10,274 39,058 5,059 11,784 449 - 66,624
Cost of Sales
operating {7,9500 (27,712 {3,913) {9,936) - - (49,511)
- impairment charge on nventonies {815} - - - - - (815)
Administrative expenses (1,234} (2,826} {636) (1,564) - - [6,260)
Gain on property disposat - - - 410 - - 410
Net loss from fair value adjustments - - - - (206) - {206)
Revaluation decreases 813 - - {65) - - [878)
Operating {loss) / profit {538} 8,520 510 629 243 - 9,364
Finance income net 817 1,158 100 7 - - 2146
Income tax expense (236) 2,373 (454) (197} - - {3.260)
Profit after taxation 43 7.305 156 503 243 - 8,250
Balanca Sheet Information
Segment Assets 11,585 63,311 18,006 20,741 1,000 - 114,643
Segment Liabikbes 6,979  (23,791) (1,113 {3,420 - - {35,903)
Segment Net Assets 4,606 39,520 16,293 17,321 1,000 - 78,740
Investments - 6 - - - - 6
Financial investments 9,828 42,764 - - - - 52,592
Cash and cash equwalents and restricted cash 11,644 11,416 2,776 248 - 268 26,352
TOTAL NET ASSETS 26,078 93,706 19,069 17,569 1,000 268 157,690
Other Segmental Information
Depreciahon 91 107 - 4,217 - - 4415
Profit on disposal of fixed assets {55) (1) - {591) - - {647)
Captal expenditure 48 138 - 5,946 - - 6132
Noncurren assets 2,038 3,944 434 17,808 1,000 - 25,224
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8 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2012 2011

Cost of sales €000 €000
The cost of sales charge for the year is armved at after charging

Write down of inventonies to net realisable value 1,248 815

Over the financial year the Group has continued to mondor the carrying value of inventones in the housing dmsion as a result of the continung difficutt
market emvironment. Ansing from these considerations we estimate that the onginal cost of certamn development sites have sufiered impairment i the
amount of €1,248,000 {2011 €815,000) As such, in accordance with IAS 2 Tnventones” the Group have recorded an mparment wite down to bring
the carryng value of inventones recorded in the balance sheet to the lower of cost and net realisable value

Gan on disposal of property - 410
Buning the pnor year an addbonal gam resulted from the disposal of a property following the resutt
of an appeal against the compulsory purchase order value of the property

Net (gam} / loss from fawr value adjustments in investment properties (114) 206
At the year end, a review of the far value of investment properbes was undertaken and this resulted
n a net {gam} / loss recorded in the income statement

Revaluation decreases in land and bulldings - 878
At the year end, a review of the far value of land and bwldings was undertaken and this
resutted in a revaluabion decrease to the mcome statement

2012 2011
9 FINANCE INCOME €000 €000
Bank interest recevable 52 199
Government bond mterest recenvable 1,877 2,111
Realised gains on avallable-for sale financial investments 1,117 2
3,046 2,312
FINANCE COSTS
Other finance on defined benefit pension scheme {note 33) {108) (166)
10 PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 2012 2011
€000 €000
The profit on ordinary actvbes before taxation
1s arrved at after (credting) / charging
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equpment {863} (647}
Impairment charge on nventonies 1,248 815
Net {gain} / loss from far value adjustments in investment properties {114) 206
Revaluation decreases w land and buldings - 878
Foreign currency gans {568) (260}
Operating lease rentals
Rent of buddng 36 52
Hire of plant and machinery 213 309
Depreciation 4,461 4,415
Amortisation of Government bonds 81 87
Auditors' remuneration
statutory audt of the Group and subsidiaries 105 105
taxation services 26 19
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11 EMPLOYMENT

The average number of persons employed by the Group, ncluding executve directors, in the financial year was 173 (2011 170) and »s analysed by
class of business as follows

2012 2011
Number MNumber

Building and property development
Irefand 9 13
United Kingdom 47 44

Plant twre and rental

United Kingdom 117 113
173 170
Employment costs compnse 2012 2011
€000 €000
Wages and salanes 7,158 6,801
Social welfare costs 804 758
Other pension costs 579 526
8,541 8,085

Included tn other pension costs are €314,000 (2011 €264,000) in respect of defined benefit schemes and €265,000 {2011 €262,000) m respect of
defined contnbution schemes Detads of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in the Remuneration Report on page 12

12 TAXATION

2012 2011
{a) Tax charged to the income statement €000 €000
Insh Corporation Tax at 12 5%
Current 132 238
Unrted Kingdom Corporation Tax at 25 83% (2011 27 84%)
Current 2,952 2,894
Czech Republic Corporation Tax at 19 00% (2011 19 00%)
Current 58 217
Adjustment in respect of previous years {54) 239
Total current corporation tax 3,088 3,588
Deferred tax orignating and reversal of temporary differences 96 {328}
Tax charge to the income statement 3,183 3,260
Tax relating to tems charged or credited to equity
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme obligabions (644) (248)

Factors affecting current tax charge
The following table relates the applicable Republic of Ireland statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate of the Group, obtaned by computing the tax charge
as a percentage of the profit on ordinary actwbes before taxation

2012 2011
5% of profit before taxabon)
Insh corporation tax rate 125 125
Higher tax rates on UK profits and passie income 129 133
Tox losses utfised {0 8} -
Adjustment for previous years - 17
Permanent differences 18 -
Other 01 08
265 283

The movement cn deferred tax relates pnmardy to the ongnaiion and reversal of temporary differences as detalled in note 25 and ncludes temporary
differences on accounting for 1AS 19 "Employee Benefits™
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12 TAXATION {CONTINUED)
{4 Tax refating to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income

The tax expense m the statement of other comprehenswe income of €1,190,000 which relates to a current tax charge of €906,000 and a deferred tax
charge of €284,000 in respect of the unrealised gains in far value of avaflable-for sale financial investments

13 DIVIDENDS 202 2011
€000 €000

On Qrdinary Equity Shares

Paid ordmary

Dnadend of 5 cents per 1ssued ordinary share (2011 5 cents per share) 1,106 1,231

Paud ordinary

Dmdend of 3 cents per ssued ordnary share (2011 3 cents per share) 647 695
1,753 1,926

Ordinary dnidends proposed {memorandum disclosure)
Proposed 5 00 cents per share (2011 500 cents per share) 1,076 1,149

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic and Diluted

Earnings per share has been calculated by reference to the weighted average number of shares in 1ssue of 22,200,542 {2011 24,187,389) and to the
profit on ordinary actvties after taxation amounting to €8,868,000 {2011 €8,250,000)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Land and Plant and
buildings machmnery Transport Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cost or far value
At 1 May 2010 10,596 28,381 2,014 41,891
Translation adjustment {174) (753) (68} {9935)
Additions - 5,547 585 6,132
Disposals - {4,061} (606} 4,667}
Revaluahon {1,298} - - {1,298)
At 30 Apri 2011 9,124 29,114 2,825 41,063
Translation adustment 775 2,800 255 3,830
Additions - 6,979 664 7,643
Disposats - {3,592} (486) (4,078}
Transfer to investment property (386) - - {386)
At 30 Apnl 2012 9,513 35,301 3,258 48,072
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Land and Plant and

bulldmgs machmery Transport Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2010 460 18,518 2,118 21,096
Translation adjustment (10 {468) 42) 520)
Charge for the vear 122 3,930 363 4,415
Disposals - (3,451} (529) {3,980}
At 30 April 2011 572 18,529 1,910 21,011
Translaton adustment 49 1,713 159 1,921
Charge for the year 110 3,974 377 4,461
Disposals - (2,904} {444) {3,348)
At 30 April 2012 731 21,312 2,002 24,045
Net book amounts
At 30 Apnl 2012 8,782 13,989 1,256 24,027
At 30 April 2011 8,552 10,585 915 20,052

Plant and machinery ncludes assets held for hire with a cost of €33,505,000 (2011 €27,569,000) and accurulated depreciabion of €19,830,000
{2011 €17,221,000)

2012 2011
€000 €000
Land and buldng compnses

Freehold property 8,350 8,157
Long leasehold property 432 395
8,782 8,552

The historical cost of land and buldings amounts to
Land and builldings 7,060 6,565

Land and buldings stuated n Ireland were independently valued by Allen & Townsend, Chartered Surveyors on an open market basis at 30 Apnl 2012

Land and buildngs siuated n the United Kingdem were independenttly valued by Glenny, Chartered Surveyars on an open market basis at 30 April 2011
The Directors reviewed the overall valuation at 30 Aprl 2012 and considered that no adjustment was required

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 2012 2011
€000 €000
Fair value
At 1 May 2,209 2,128
Translaticn adjustment 57 (37}
Addtions  subsequent expenditure 29 -
Transfer from land and buldings 386 -
Transfer from work in progress - 452
Farr value adustment 114 (334)
2,795 2,209

The above investment propertes represent retail units which are let to third parbes under operating leases
Investment properties stuated n Iretand were independenitly valued by Allen & Townsend, Chartered Surveyors on an open market basis at 30 Apnl 2012

Investment properties siuated n the Unted Kingdom were independently valued by Glenny, Chartered Surveyors on an open market basis at
30 Aprii 2011 The Directors reviewed the overall valuation at 30 Apnl 2012 and cansidered that no adjusiment was required

ABBEY PLC, ANNUAL REPORT 2012, PAGE 31




Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 April 2012

17 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

Abbey Holdngs Limited held a 50% interest i the aflotted share captal of Pontedena Limited, whose registered office was at 9 Abbey House, Man
Street, Clonee, Co Meath The nvestment comprised 1 Ordinary share of €1 25 Pontederia had no acbve tradmng actviies during the year or the prior
year The company assets were distributed to the shareholders and the company was ligindated on 20 May 2011

18 INVESTMENTS 2012 2011
€000 €000

Ordinary shares at cost

NorHhsted company 6 6

Financial assets

UK Government Sterling Bonds 49,961 52,592

These relate to UK Treasury Stock being avalable for sale These financial investments are recorded at farr value at the balance sheet date The interest
income on these financial nvestments durng the year was €1,877,000 (2011 €2,111,000)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2012 2011
€000 €000

Amounts faling due within one year

Trade recewnables 3977 3,453

Other recewvables 282 349

Vaiue added tax 852 1,739

Prepayments and accrued income 700 756
5811 6,297

Trade recenables are generally on 30-90 day terms and are shown net of a prowision for impawrment At 3¢ Apnl 2012 trade recewables amourting to
€570,000 (2011 €511,000} were older than the Group's standard credit terms but not deemed to be impasred At 30 April 2012 trade recewvables with
a value of €369,000 (2011 €269,000) were impaired and fully prowided for The movement in the bad debt prewsion 1s not considered matenal, nor
does it relate to significant indmdual recewvables

20 INVENTORIES 2012 2011
€000 €000

Buiding land and roads 73,863 56,197
Work In progress 30,593 26,783
Raw matenals 240 148
104,696 83,128

21 RESTRICTED CASH 2012 on
€000 €000

Cash held n escrow accounts 286 1,544

Restricted cash 1s held in escrow accounts in respect of house unt sales n the Czech Republic These funds, together with any interest earned, wil be
released to the Group when title to the units are transferred to the purchasers

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand 11,645 16,806
Short term depostts 8,243 8,002

19,888 24,808

Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 15 €19,888,000 {2011 €24,808,000) The Group had no undrawn borrowing faciites at the year end
(2011 €4,177,000)
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2012 2011
€000 €000
Amounts faling due within one year
Trade crediiors 16,726 17,487
Amounts cutstanding on land 12,504 5484
United Kingdom income tax 45 124
Social welfare tax 69 108
Value added tax 85 207
Other creditors 638 745
Accruals and deferred incorne 5,325 6,593
35,392 30,748
Terms and condibons of the above financial habilhes
Trade crediors are nornterest bearmg and are normally setled between 3090 day terms
- Amounts outstanding on land are noHnterest beanng and settement 1s dependent on terms of the contract.
- United Kingdom income tax, social welfare and value added tax are normally settied on 30 day terms
- Other payables are nomnterest bearing and settlement is dependent on the terms of the payable
23 INCOME TAX PAYABLE 2012 2011
€000 €000
Income tax payable 1,811 1,047
24 PROVISIONS 2012 2011
€000 €000
Maintenance prowisions
At 1 May 2,167 2,298
Ansing dunng the year 308 451
Utihised {839) {169)
Released dunng year {412} 413)
At 30 April 1,224 2,167
Analysed as
Current labilibes 1,194 2,103
Noncurrent liabilities 30 64
1,224 2,167

The maintenance prowision represents the best esbmate of the Group's liabilty under warranties given to purchasers for repar and maintenance work
on houses sold based on past experience of required repars The warranties given to purchasers are prowded at the point of legal complebon and are
released over the warranty penod It s anticipated that the majonty of these costs will be incurred m the next financial year, or released as the lability

for the warranty 15 discharged

25 DEFERRED TAXATICN 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011
€000 €000 €000 €'000 €000

Pension Accelerated Other Total Total

Obhgation Capital Allowances

At 1 May 769 22 250 1,041 1,055
Transtation adpstment 112 1 1 114 (28)
Recognised in mcome statement 166 {15) {55} 96 (328)
Equty movement 644 - 284 923 342
At 30 April 1,691 8 480 2,179 1,041

Following the UK budget on 21 March 2012 a resolution under the prowisional collection of taxes act resulted in the corporation tax rate reducing to 24%
with effect from 1 Aprit 2012 Deferred tax has therefore been provided at 24% The budget on 21 March 2012 also amounced a further reducton of 1%
per annum in the main rate of corporation tax down to 22% by 1 Aprd 2014 This change had not been substantvely enacted at the balance sheet date
if these changes had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, the deferred tax Iiability at 30 Aprl 2012 would have reduced by €159,000

Unrecogmised Deferred Tax Asset

A potential deferred tax asset of €4,240,884 (2011 €4,242,707) has not been recogmsed as there 1s uncertainty regarding the avalability of future
Insh taxable profits against which the tax losses may be utthsed
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26 I1SSUED CAPITAL 2012 2011
Authonsed €'000 €'000
At 1 May and 30 Apnl 45,000,000 ordinary shares of 32 cents each 14,400 14,400
2012 2011 2012 2011
Allotted, called up and fully pard Number "'000 Number ‘000 €000 €000
At 1 May ordmnary shares of 32 cents each 22,977 24,627 7,353 7,881
Purchase of own shares, cancelled {1,386} {1,650} {444) (528}
At 30 April ordinary shares of 32 cents each 21,591 22977 6,909 7.353
2012 2011

Caprtal Redemption Reserve Fund €000 €000
At 1 May 5,030 4,502
Purchase of own shares 444 528
At 30 April 5,474 5,030
Capital redemption reserve fund
The captal redemption reserve records the nominal value of the shares repurchased

Share Premium Account  Revaluabon Reserve Cumrency Translation
27 RESERVES €'000 €000 €000
At 1 May 2010 13,321 4,548 (20,044)
Translaton adustment ansing m year - (92 (2,033}
Reduction in revaluation surplus - (738} -
At 1 May 2011 13,321 3718 {22,077
Translabon adustment ansmg n year - 344 10,238
At 30 Aprd 2012 13,321 4,062 {11,839)
The revaluabon reserve 15 in respect of €000
Land and buildings

Share premum reserve

4,062

The share premium reserve records the amount receved for equity shares in excess of nommal value

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve 1s used to record increases in the far value of land and buildmgs and decreases to the extent that such decreases relates to an

ncrease on the same asset previously recognised in equity

Currency transiation reserve

The foresgn currency translabon reserve 15 used to record exchange differences ansing from the translabon of the financial statements of Group

compares which do not have euro as ther presentatonal currency

ABBEY PLC, ANNUAL REPORT 2012, PAGE 34




Notes to the Group Financial Statements 30 Apnil 2012

28 RETAINED EARNINGS Note 2012 2011
€000 €000

Retaned earnings at beginning of year 150,345 150,212
Profit retained for the financial year 8,868 8,250
Equity dmdends paid 13 {1,753) {1,926)
Reduction in revaluabon surplus - 191
Unrealised gain on far value of financial nvestments 55653 1,882
Tax movement relating to unrealised gain on fair vatue of avalablefor-sale financial investments (1,327) (454)
Reclassificabon of adjustment for disposal of avalable-for-sale financial investments [(565) -
Tax movement relating to reclassification of adustment for

disposal of avalablefor sale financial iInvestments 137 -
Actuanal gan on Group defined benefit pension obhgabons 2,683 953
Deferred tax movement relating to actuanal gan

on Group defined benefit pension obligations {644) {248}
Purchase of own shares 7,313) (8,515}
At 30 Apri 155,984 150,345

The balance on the avalablefor-sale reserve contaned above at year end 1s €7,325,000 (2011 €2,144,000) and the tax recogmised on this 15
€1,636,000 (2011 €530,0000

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following herarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique
Level 1 quoted {unadjusted) pnces in active markets for identical assets or liabilbes,

Level 2 other techniques other than quoted pnces included in level 1,
Level 3 techmiques that use cost as far value measurement due to the matenality of the investments held

2012 2011
€000 €000

Avallable-for-sale financral assets (refer note 18)
UK Government Stering Bonds Level 1 45,961 52,592

There were no nstruments measured at Level 2 or Level 3

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's principal financial assets and habibes compnse ¢ash, short term deposits and vanous tems such as trade recenables and trade payables
that anse directly from s operabons The man purpose of these financial mstruments 1s to raise finance for the Group's aperations

The main nsks ansing from the Group s financial instruments are interest rate and foreign currency nsks

imterest rate risk

The Group's exposure o the nsk on interest rate changes in the market relates pnmanly to the Group's customers ability to raise finance to purchase
development sites

Foreign currency nisk

As a result of signdficant operations in the United Kingdom and to a lesser extent the Czech Repubhc, the Group's balance sheet can be signficantly
affected by movements in the UK£/euro and CZK/euro exchange rates The following table demonstrates the sensivity to a reasonable possible change
in the UK stering exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Groups profit / {loss) before tax and the Group's equdy

Increase / decrease Effect on profit / Effect on

n UK sterbng rate {loss) before tax equity

€000 €000

2011 +5% {474) (3,634
5% 524 4016

2012 +5% (528) (6,046)
5% 584 6,666
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31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

There are no contracted for capital commitments at the balance sheet date

32 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Future merumum remals payable under noncancellable operating leases at 30 April are as follows 2012 2011
€000 €'000

Leases on land and buldings expinng
Within one year - 36
Between two and five years 195 -
After more than five years 270 -
465 36

Operating leases on plant and machmery carry no future commitments
33 PENSIONS
The Group operates one defined benefit scherne in the United Kingdom

The most recent annual actuanal valuation of the Abbey Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance Scheme was cammed out as at 1 May 2011 using
the projected unit method The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuabions are those made in respect of the rate
of return on investments and the rate of increase i salaries and pensions The assumptions made were that the rates of return on Investments would
exceed the rates of salary increases by 4 20% per annum and that the rate of pension increase would be 3 25% per annum

The costs of prowiding UK death in service benefits, which are insured under a separate agreement with Canada Life were paid in addbion to the employer
comnbutions

As at 1 May 2011, the total value placed on the assets of the Group's pension plan for the purposes of the valuations amounted to €24 O milbon and was
sufficient to cover 96% of the scheme’s habiies The Group made additional contributions dunng the year to 30 Apnl 2012 of €990,000 to eliminate
this defict The Group wall be making contributions mto the scheme at a contribution rate of 17 20% from 1 May 2012 The employer expects to make
contribubions of £276,000 n the coming financial year

With effect from 1 May 2006 pensionable salaries have been frozen and the scheme has contracted back into the State Earnings Related Pension
Scheme The Insh Scheme was wound up m Apnl 2007

The actuanal valuations are not available for public mspection

Defined Benefit Scheme

Actuanal valuabons in accordance with IAS 19 were carmed out at 30 April 2012 by a qualfied ndependent actuary The actuanal reports are avalable
to the penston scheme members only

The major assumptions used by the actuary were

2012 2011
Pensionable salary growth Nl % pa Nl % pa
Pension escalabon in payment 330%pa 350 % pa
Discount rate 470 % pa 530 % pa
Inflabon assumption  retad price index 330%pa 350%pa
Inflabon assumpticn  consumer pnce ndex 250 % pa 300%pa
Postretirement mortality {in years)
Current pensioners at 65 - males 218 220
Current pensicners at 65 - female 237 241
Future pensioners at 65 males 240 240
Future pensioners at 65 - female 260 254
The assets in the scheme and the expected longterm rate of return were
Bonds 363% 4 19%
Cash and short term deposits 200% 2 00%
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33 PENSIONS (CONTINUED) :

Farr value of defined benefit assets are as follows 2012 2011 |

As at 30 April €000 €000

Bonds 31,262 23,482 i

Cash and short term deposits 1,045 526 .

Farr value of assets 32,307 24,008 :

Present value of scheme habiliies in respect of active and deferred members {25,260) {21,051} i

Defined beneft pension scheme surplus 7.047 2,957 !

The defined benefit scheme in the United Kingdom was closed to new entrants on 1 January 2001 As this scheme s closed to new entrants the age

profile of the active members will nse significantly causing the current serwce cost to increase as the members of the scheme approach retrement

From 25 June 2003 the Unted Kingdom pension scheme became selfadmimstered The assets prewiously held with an msurance company were
transferred for cash to the Trustee Company who has subsequently invested the funds in UK Government Bonds The Trustee Company has an investment

policy to look to maximise return, based on an acceptable Jevel of nsk and therefore nvestrent in other forms, such as the stock exchange may be

potentially wable

The amounts recopnised in the Group tncome Statement and n the Group Statement of 2012 2011 !
Comprehensive Income are as follows €000 €000 |
]
Recogmised in income statement i
Current service cost {314} (264}
Recogrised in adnumstrative expenses i the mcome statement, in arrving at operatng profit {314} (264} ,
Actual return on scheme assets 1,050 989
Interest cost on scheme habifhes {1,158) {1,155)
Other finance cost {108) {166)
Taken to the statement of comprehensive income
Actual return on scheme assets less expected return on scheme assets 3,996 932
Other actuarial losses and gains (108} (166}
Changes in assumpiions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilbes (1,205} 187
Actuanal gains recogmsed in statement of changes in comprehensive ncome 2,683 953
Changes m the fair value of defined benefit pension obhgations
As at 1 May 21,051 20,648
Current service cost 314 264
Member contributions 60 61
Interest costs 1,158 1,155
Benefits paid (692} (506}
Exchange translabon 2,052 {550}
Actuanal loss / (gans) 1,317 (21)
As at 30 Apni 25,260 21,051

The sensitnibes regarding the prncipal assumphions used to measure the scheme babilies are set out below

Assumption Change 1 assumption impact on scheme habilibes
Discount rate Decrease by 0 5% Increase by § 7%
Rate of inflation Increase by 0 5% Increase by 4 0%
Rate of mortality Increase by 1 year Increase by 2 6%
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33 PENSIONS [CONTINUED) 2012 2011
€000 €000
Changes m the fairr value of defined benefit scheme assets
As at 1 May 24,008 22,391
Expected return on scheme assets 1,050 989
Employer contribubons 1,373 790
Contrbutions by employees 60 6l
Benefits paid {692) (506)
Exchange translation 2512 (649
Actuanal gams 3,996 932
As at 30 Apri 32,307 24,008
Amounts for the current
and previous penods 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
€000 €000 €000 €000 €'000
Farr value of scheme assets 32,307 24,008 22,391 21,049 21,402
Present value of defined
benefit obligation (25,260} (21,051) (20,648) (14,156) {17.414)
Surplus in scheme 7,047 2,957 1,743 6,803 3,988
Experience adjustments
ansing on scheme liabikhes {108) {166) {71) 3 (333
Expenence adjustments
ansing on scheme assets 3,996 932 {232) 933 53

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Durning the year the Group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related parties These transactions were inter segment

and have been eliminated on consolidation

There were no related party transactions with Directors, other than in the normal course of business

35 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no subsequent events since the balance sheet date other than in the normal course of busmess
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Company Balance Sheet

At 30 April 2012

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets
Financial assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors

Financial investments
Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS {amounts falling due within one year)
Trade and other creditors

NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

Called up share capital

Share premum account

Other reserves
- Capital redemption reserve fund
- Currency translahon

Profit and loss account

Approved by the Board on 9 July 2012
CH GALLAGHER, Charman
L G FRAQUELLL, Dwector
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Note

C3
Ca

C5
Cé

C7

C8
C9

C8
C9
C10

2012 2011
€000 €000
1,445 1,348

23,530 23,530
24,975 24,878
317 319
37,791 42,764
703 754
38,811 43,837
{5,941) (9,499
32,870 34,338
57,845 59,216
6,909 7,353
13,321 13,321
5474 5,030
2,606 (383)
29,535 33,895
57,845 59,216




Notes to the Company Financial Statements 30 April 2012

C1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basts of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the tistoncal cost convention, except for land and buldings and avaable-for sale
financial vwestments which have been measured at far value, and are prepared n accordance with the applicable generally accepted accounting standards
nlreland and are stated m Euro These financial statements present information about the company as an indmdual undertakang and not about its group The
company has changed tts functional currency to stesing(£), but contrwes to present ris financial statements in eurol€)

A summary of the more important Company accountng pobcies are set out below

The parent company has avaled of the exempbons m Section 148(8) of the Compantes Act, 1963 from layng rts indmdual proft and loss account before the
annual general meeting and the exempbon in Secbon Z{1A) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986 from fiing ts indmdual profit and loss account with the
Regystrar of Companes

The principal actvity of the Company 15 {o act as a holdng company

Under Financial Reporting Standard 1, the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that its conschdated
financial statements, which include the Company are publicly avatable

{a} Foreign currencies
The financial statements are presented in euro, which 1s the Company's presentational currency The company has changed its functional
currency to sterling effective 1 May 2011 as a result of determining that s assets and habilies are now pnmarily held in sterling and that
it was a UK tax resident company Monetary assets and hiabilibes dencmmated n foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange
ruling on the balance sheet date Exchange gans or losses are dealt with in the profit and loss account investments in subsidiary undertaking,
including unsecured loan stock denominated in foreign currencies, are translated and recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of
the transaction
Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Investment n subsidiary undertakings are included i the financial statements at the lower of onginal cost and the directors' estmate of the
value to the company of the Investment
{c) Fixed assets
Properties occupied by the company are classified as land and buldings and are revalued triennially by external valuers on an open market
value basis The directors review the valuations of all propertes annually Revaluation gains, if matenal, are ncorporated in the financial
statements and are charged to the property revaluation reserve accordingly Any impairment loss 1s firstly charged to the revaluabon reserve
to the extent that a surplus exists and thereafter to the profit and loss account
{d) Depreciation
Depreciation 1s provided on afl praperty, other than land, on a straight fine basis over the expected useful Ife as follows Buildings - 50 years
{e) Avalablefor sale financial mvestments
Avalablefor-sale financial mvestments are those nondervative financial assets that are designated as such After inal recognition, available
for sale financial Investments are measured at far value with gains or losses being recogmsed as a separate component of equity untl the
nvestment 1s determined to be mpaired at which time the curmulatve gain or loss previously reported in equity 1s included in the profit and
loss account
) Far values
The fawr value of financial asset investments 1s determined by reference to bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date

{bi

=

(g} Impairment of financial mvestments
The company assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial investment or group of financial assets 1s impared
2012 2011

C2 PROFIT ON CRDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION €000 €000
This 1s arnved at afier charging
Directors’ remunerabon 163 170
Depreciation 26 26
Auditors’ remuneration - audit fees 25 20

- taxahon seraices 3 4
C3 TANGIBLE ASSETS 2012 2011
Freehold land and buildings €000 €000
Cost or valuation
At 1 May 1,399 1,566
Translation adjustment 129 -
Revaluation - {167)
At 30 Aprd 1,528 1,399
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C3 TANGIBLE ASSETS {CONTINUED) 2012 2011
€000 €000
Depreciation
At1 May 51 25
Translation adustment 6 -
Depreciation 26 26
At 30 April 83 51
Net book value
At 30 Apni 1,445 1,348
C4 FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 2012 2011
€000 €000
Shares in unfisted subsidiary undertakings at cost 23,530 23,530

The shares n subsidiary undertakings represent the full amount of called up share capital n those undertakings, all of which are ordinary shares The

principal subsichary undertakings are as follows

Incorporated in the
Republic of ireland

Abbey Holdings Limted

Nature
of business

Investment holding
company

Registered
office

9 Abbey House
Main Street
Clonee, Co Meath

Kingscroft Developments Limrted Residenbial housing and as above
land development
Incorporated in the Nature Registered
United Kingdom of business office
Abbey Group Limited Investment holding Abbey House
company 2 Southgate Road
Potters Bar
Hertfordshire
ENG 50U
England
Abbey Developments Limited Residential housing and as above
tand development
Abbey Investments Limited Property investment as above
M&J Engineers Limited Plant hire Cashel House
Cadwell Lane
Hitchin
Hertfordshire
$G40sQ
England
Incorporated in the Nature Registered
Czech Repubiic of busmess office
Abbey, sro Residential housimg and Terronska 7

land development

The principal place of business of all subsidiary undertakings 1s in the country of mcorporation
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C5 DEBTORS 2012 2011
€000 €000
Amounts faling due within one year
Prepayments and accrued income 316 315
Value added tax 1 4
a7 319
C6 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 2012 2011
€000 €000
UK Government Sterling Bonds 37,791 42,764
These related to UK Treasury Bonds avadable for sale
C7 TRADE AND QTHER CREDITORS 2012 2011
€000 €000
Amounts faling due withn one year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 4,338 8,573
Corporaton tax 965 239
Other creditors 491 518
Accruals and deferred ncome 147 169
5,941 9,499

C8 ISSUED CAPITAL

The authorised allotted, called up and fully paid caprtal 1s shown 1n note 26 of the Group Report and Accounts

The capital redempton reserve fund 15 shown in note 26 of the Group Report and Accounts

C9 RESERVES

At 1 May 2011 and 30 April 2012

At 1 May 2011
Translation adustment ansing on adustment to presentaton currency

At 30 Apnl 2012

C10 PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Profit brought forward at beginmng of year

Profit retaned for the financial year

Dwidends paid

Purchase of own shares

Unrealised gain on far value of financial nvestments net of tax

Reclassiication of adustment for disposal of avalable-for sale financial mvestments - net of tax

At 30 Apnl

C11 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authonsed for issue by the Board of Cirectors on 9 July 2012
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Share Premium Account

€000
13,321
Currency Translation
€000
1383)
2,989
2,606
2012 2011
€000 €000
33,895 26,335
2,072 16,969
(3,753} (1,926)
{7,313) (8,515}
3,062 1,032
|428) -
29,535 33,895




Notice of Meeting

Notice 15 hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Abbey
plc {the Company} will be held in The Grand Hotel, Malahide,
County Dubln, at 1030 am on Fnday, 5th October, 2012
for the purpose of considering and, If thought fit, passing the
following resolutons

Ordinary Bustness

@ To consider the Company's Accounts and the Reports of
the Directors and the Auditors for the year ended 30th
April 2012

B/ To confirm and declare a dwidend on the ordmary shares
for the year ended 30th Apnl 2012

B Toreelect as a Director Mr J Roger Humber (Chairman
of Audt Committee and Remuneraton Committee) who
retires at the Meeting under Article 98 of the Company's
Articles of Association

B To elect as Director Mr Michael A McNulty (Mernber of
Audit Committee and Remuneraton Comrmttee) who
retires at the Meeting under Article 87 of the Company's
Articles of Association

B To authonse the Directors to fix the remuneraton of the
Auditors

Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions

AS AN ORDINARY RESOLUTION

“That the Directors be and they are hereby generally and
unconditonally authonsed to exercise ali powers of the Company
to allot relevant securttes (as defined for the purposes of
Secton 20 of the Companies (Amendment} Act, 1983) up to
an aggregate nominal amount of €7,511,815 04 The avtharty
hereby conferred shall exprre at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company (to be held in 2013)
unless previously renewed, vaned or revoked by the Company
n general meetng save that the Company may make an offer
or agreement before the expiry of this authonty which would or
mught require relevant secunties to be allotted after this authorty
has expred and the Directors may allot relevant secunbes
in pursuance of such offer or agreement as ff the authonty
conferred hereby had not expired "
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AS A SPECIAL RESCLUTION

“That the Directors be empowered pursuant to Section 24 of
the Compames {Amendment) Act, 1983 to allot equity secunties
{within the meanng of Section 23 and Sechon 24{1) of the
Compames (Amendment) Act, 1983) for cash pursuant to the
authorty conferred on the Directors under Section 20 of the
Companies (Amendment} Act 1983 by the resolution above as if
sub-Section (1} of the said Section 23 did not apply to any such
allotment provided that this power shall be limited to

{a) the allotment of equity secuntes i connechon with a
nghts 1ssue n favour of shareholders where in so far as
1s reasonably pracbcable the equity securhes allotted
to each shareholder 1s proporbonate to the respective
numbers of shares held by them, and

(b} the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to subparagraph
(a) of this resoluhon) of equity secunbes up to an
aggregate nominal value of €344,409

The authonty hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company {to be held
in 2013) unless previously renewed, vaned or revoked by the
Company in general meetng save that the Company may make
an offer or agreement before the expiry of this authorty which
would or might requrre relevant secunties to be allotted after
this authonty has exprred and the Directors may allot relevant
secuntes i pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the
authonty conferred hereby had not expired "

By arder of the Board Registered Office
24th August 2012 25/28 North Wall Quay, Dublin 1
Dawd J Dawson, Secretary {Reg No 9245 Republc of Ireland)




Notice of Meeting Continued

Notes

Any member entitied to attend and vote at the Annual General
Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak, and vote on his/her
behalf in accordance with the procedures set out in this Notice of
Meeting and the form of proxy

A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend
the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment thereof in person to
represent you

A form of proxy 1s enclosed with this Notice of Meeting To be vakd,
the proxy must be duly completed and executed, and deposited at,
or returned to, the Company's Registrars, Computershare Investor
Services (reland) Limted, PO Box 954, Heron House, Corng
Road, Sandyford Industrsal Estate, Dubln 18, together with any
authonsation under which it is signed or a copy of such autherisation
etther certified notanally or an office copy, to reach them not less
than 48 hours before the tme fixed for the holding of the Annual
General Meeting or any adjournment therecf or (m the case of a
poll taken otherwise than at or on the same day as appainted for
the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment thereof) at least
24 hours before the taking of the poll at which it 1s to be used Any
alteration to the form of proxy must be intballed by the person who
signs it.

If the appainter 15 an indmdual, this form of proxy must be signed
by the member or lis/her attorney I the appowter 1S a corporation,
this form of proxy must be under ts common seal or under the hand
of some officer or attorney duly authorised in that behalf

In the case of jont holders, the signature of any one holder will be
sufficient but the names of all the joint holders should be stated
The vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote, whether in persan
or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the
other joint holder(s} and for this purpose semornty will be determined
by the order in which the name stands in the register of members i
respect of the jont holding
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The completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude
a member from attending the Annual General Meeting or any
adournment thereof and voting i person

On any other busness which may properly come before the Annual
General Meeting or any adjoumment thereof and whether procedural
and/or substantve n nature (ncliding any mobon to amend a
resolhon or adjourn the meeting) not specfied in this Notice of
Meeting or the form of proxy, the proxy will act at his/her discrebon

There will be avallable for nspecton by members at 25/28 North
Wall Quay, Dublin 1, dunng usual business hours from the date of
this Notice of Meetng and at The Grand Hotel, Malahide, County
Dubhn, for fifteen nunutes pnor to and until the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting, copies of contracts of service of Directors
with the Company, or any of ts subsidianes

The registers required to be mantaned by the Company under
Section 60 and 80 of the Companies Act, 1990 shall be available for
inspection to any person attending the Annual General Meebng for
fifteen muinutes prior to and untl the conclusion of the said meeting

There have been no changes to the Directors and Secretary
Interests in the shares of Abbey pl¢ as disclosed in the Dreciors’
report dated 9th July 2012 at the date of this Nohce of Meeting 24th
August 2012
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